Memorandum

June 22, 2012

From:

Faye B. Feinstein

Re:

UPDATE regarding (1) distribution from the Baetis Fund to Gryphon and
Pantera and (2) Final Judgment Against James E. Putman in SEC Enforcement
Action and Putman's Motion for Reconsideration

(1)

Distribution from Baetis Fund
The resolution of a long-pending coverage dispute has resulted in payment to The Baetis

Fund ("Baetis") of the proceeds of a life insurance policy that was an asset of Baetis. At my
request, Baetis has distributed the following amounts to Gryphon and Pantera, the two WM
Funds invested in Baetis:
GRYPHON: $6,751,866.85
PANTERA: $ 241,138.10
The money distributed from Baetis will be included in a third interim distribution that I
anticipate making this summer.
The general partner of Baetis – Wood, Hat & Silver LLC ("WHS") – has asserted a right
under the Baetis partnership agreement to retain $777,000.55 in Baetis to cover expenses of
winding Baetis down, including potential legal fees. The disposition of these funds remains at
issue.
(2)

Final Judgment Against James E. Putman in SEC Enforcement Action
Recently, I posted to my web site at www.wealthmgmt.com the opinion of the

receivership Court, granting the motion of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for
summary judgment against James Putman in the SEC's enforcement action. (The Court's opinion
in support of its Final Judgment was previously posted to the my web site under the heading
QB\16937511.1

Memorandum

Decision and Order of April 24, 2012, Granting Summary Judgment to SEC Against James E.
Putman; I have since posted the amended version of that document, which corrects the date at
the end of the opinion.) "Summary judgment" means that the SEC was asking the Court to rule
in favor of the SEC without a trial, on the ground that no material facts were, or could be,
disputed by Putman in the case and the law required a ruling against Putman.
On May 21, 2012, the Court entered its Final Judgment as to Defendant James E.
Putman, in which it granted the SEC all the relief the SEC requested, including entering
injunctions barring Putman from violating federal securities and investment advisory laws and
ordering Putman to disgorge $1,660,129 (comprising the $1,240,000 of undisclosed commissions
he received in connection with steering investments by the WM Funds into life insurance
premium financing vehicles and a civil penalty of $130,000).
The Court's Final Judgment orders Putman to deposit the money with the clerk of the
Court. The SEC may propose to the Court a plan for the distribution of any money Putman
deposits, although, given Putman's personal bankruptcy, my understanding is that the SEC does
not anticipate any significant payments to be forthcoming from Putman.
The next day, Putman filed a motion asking the Court to reconsider the Final Judgment
against him. Putman says that he did not understand the nature of the SEC's summary judgment
motion and, if he had understood, he would have challenged the factual allegations made by the
SEC. Among other things, he asserts that he never misrepresented the suitability of the WM
Funds for any investor and never intentionally defrauded investors. The SEC filed an objection,
and Putman filed a reply; the Court will likely rule without holding a hearing.
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Attached to this memo are (1) a copy of the Final Judgment entered against Putman in the
SEC enforcement action and (2) Putman's motion for reconsideration, the SEC's objection, and
Putman's reply.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
GREEN BAY DIVISION
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
v.

Civil Action No. 09-C-506

WEALTH MANAGEMENT LLC;
JAMES PUTMAN; and SIMONE FEVOLA,
Defendants, and
WML GRYPHON FUND LLC;
WML WATCH STONE PARTNERS, L.P.; WML
PANTERA PARTNERS, L.P.; WML PALISADE
PARTNERS, L.P.; WML L3, LLC; and WML
QUETZAL PARTNERS, L.P.,

Relief Defendants.

FINAL JUDGMENT AS TO DEFENDANT JAMES E. PUTMAN

The Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission) having filed a Complaint against
Defendant James E. Putman (“Putman”) or (“Defendant”), and the Court having issued a Decision
and Order on April 24, 2012 granting summary judgment to the Commission on all claims against
Putman, and awarding all relief requested by the Commission in its motion for summary judgment:

I.
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, Adjudged, And Decreed that Defendant and Defendant’s
agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with them
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who receive actual notice of this Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise are permanently
restrained and enjoined from violating, directly or indirectly, Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], by using any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce,
or of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection with the
purchase or sale of any security:
(a)

to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud;

(b)

to make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading; or

c)

to engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate
as a fraud or deceit upon any person.

II.
IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, Adjudged, And Decreed that Defendant and
Defendant’s agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of this Final Judgment by personal service or
otherwise are permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities
Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] in the offer or sale of any security by the
use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by
use of the mails, directly or indirectly:
(1)
(2)

to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud;
to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a material fact or
2
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any omission of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or
(3)

to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.

III.
IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, Adjudged, And Decreed that Defendant and
Defendant’s agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of this Final Judgment by personal service or
otherwise are permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Sections 206(1) and (2) of the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(1) and (2)], while acting as
an investment adviser within the meaning of Section 202(11) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b2(11)], by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or
indirectly:
(a)

to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or prospective client;
or

(b)

to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operate as a fraud
or deceit upon any client or prospective client.

IV.
IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, Adjudged, And Decreed that Defendant and
Defendant’s agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of this Final Judgment by personal service or
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otherwise are permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Sections 206(4) of the Advisers
Act [15 U.S.C. §§80b-6(4)] and Rule 206(4)-8 promulgated thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§275.206(4)-8],
while acting as investment advisers within the meaning of Section 202(11) of the Advisers Act [15
U.S.C. § 80b-2(11)], by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce,
directly or indirectly, to make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they are
made, not misleading, to any investor or prospective investor in a pooled investment vehicle or
otherwise engage in any act, practice, or course of business that is fraudulent, deceptive, or
manipulative with respect to any investor or prospective investor in the pooled investment vehicle.

V.
IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, Adjudged, And Decreed that Defendant is liable
for disgorgement of $1.24 million, representing profits gained as a result of the conduct alleged in
the Complaint, together with prejudgment interest thereon in the amount of $290,129, and a civil
penalty of $130,000, for a total monetary judgment amount of $1,660,129. The Commission may
enforce the Court’s judgment for disgorgement and prejudgment interest by moving for civil
contempt (and/or through other collection procedures authorized by law) at any time after ten days
following entry of this Final Judgment. In response to any such civil contempt motion by the
Commission, the defendant may assert any legally permissible defense. Payments under this
paragraph shall be made to the Clerk of this Court, together with a cover letter identifying James
E. Putman as a defendant in this action; setting forth the title and civil action number of this action
and the name of this Court; and specifying that payment is made pursuant to this Final Judgment.
Defendant shall simultaneously transmit photocopies of each such payment and letter to the
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Commission’s counsel in this action. Defendant relinquishes all legal and equitable right, title, and
interest in such payments, and no part of the funds shall be returned to Defendant. The Clerk shall
deposit the funds into an interest bearing account with the Court Registry Investment System
(ACRIS) or any other type of interest bearing account that is utilized by the Court. These funds,
together with any interest and income earned thereon (collectively, the “Fund”), shall be held in the
interest bearing account until further order of the Court. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1914 and
the guidelines set by the Director of the Administrative Office of the United States Courts, the Clerk
is directed, without further order of this Court, to deduct from the income earned on the money in
the Fund a fee equal to ten percent of the income earned on the Fund. Such fee shall not exceed
that authorized by the Judicial Conference of the United States. The Commission may propose a
plan to distribute the Fund subject to the Court’s approval. Defendant shall pay post-judgment
interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28 USC § 1961.

VI.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court shall retain
jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final Judgment.
Dated this

18th

day of May, 2012.

s/ William C. Griesbach
WILLIAM C. GRIESBACH
U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
GREEN BAY DIVISION
________________________________________________
:
:
:
:
Plaintiff,
:
:
v.
:
:
WEALTH MANAGEMENT LLC;
:
JAMES PUTMAN; and SIMONE FEVOLA,
:
:
Defendants, and
:
:
WML GRYPHON FUND LLC;
:
WML WATCH STONE PARTNERS, L.P.; WML
:
PANTERA PARTNERS, L.P.; WML PALISADE
:
PARTNERS, L.P.; WML L3, LLC; and WML
:
QUETZAL PARTNERS, L.P.,
:
:
:
Relief Defendants.
:
________________________________________________:
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Civil Action No: 09-C-506

Judge William C. Griesbach

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT JAMES PUTMAN’S MOTION FOR
RECONSIDERATION
Plaintiff, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), respectfully
submits this response to Defendant James Putman’s (“Putman”) “Motion for Reconsideration
and Leave to Find (sic) a Response to Motion for Summary Judgment.” Putman does not offer
the Court any valid reason why it should reconsider the entry of summary judgment against
Putman. Instead, Putman’s Motion for Reconsideration demonstrates why the Court’s entry of
summary judgment against Putman was proper.
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I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
The SEC filed its Complaint against Putman and others in May 2009. The SEC’s
Complaint alleged, among other things, that Putman was the founder and CEO of Wealth
Management LLC (“WM”) , an Appleton, Wisconsin financial planning firm that managed six
unregistered investment pools, referred to as the WM Funds. The Complaint alleged that Putman
engaged in a kickback scheme in which Putman accepted at least $1.24 million in undisclosed
payments derived from the WM Funds’ investments in life settlements, which were loans made
for the purpose of paying life insurance premiums. (See Docket Entry No. 1)
During the period of discovery, Putman did not depose a single witness or propound a
single interrogatory. He did not attend most of the depositions taken by the SEC.
On July 13, 2011, Putman, proceeding as a pro se litigant, filed a motion for summary
judgment against the SEC, which this Court denied on March 14, 2012. (See Docket Entries
Nos. 363, 388) On September 9, 2011, the SEC filed a motion for summary judgment against
Putman. (See Docket Entry No. 376) As required by Civil Local Rule 56(a) governing pro se
litigation, the SEC’s motion for summary judgment included a short and plain statement that any
factual assertion in the SEC’s admissible documentary evidence would be accepted as true unless
Putman submitted his own documentary evidence contradicting the factual assertion. (Id.) The
SEC’s motion contained additional notice required by this rule. (Id.) 1 Putman does not dispute
that he received this notice. Putman failed to respond to the SEC’s motion for summary
judgment, which the Court granted on April 24, 2012. Now, ten months after Putman filed his
own motion for summary judgment, eight months after the SEC moved for summary judgment,
and seven months after Putman’s response was due, Putman belatedly requests a 30-day
1

Although the SEC intended to set forth the entire text to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(d) and (e), Civil L.R. 56(a), Civil
L.R. 56(b), and Civil L.R. 7 in the motion, the SEC now realizes that it inadvertently did not include the text to Civil
L.R. 56(a)(2) and Civil L.R. 56(b) in the motion.
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“extension of time” to respond to the SEC’s motion for summary judgment, a request that
Putman never made during the eight-month period between the September 9, 2011 filing of the
SEC’s motion and the Court’s April 24, 2012 ruling.
II. PUTMAN DOES NOT SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS FOR
RECONSIDERATION OF THE COURT’S RULING
As this Court has recognized, a motion for reconsideration “serves a very limited purpose
in federal civil litigation.” Stone v. Pollard, 2010 WL 3743827 at *1 (E.D. Wis., Sept. 21, 2010)
(denying motion for reconsideration of dismissal of petition for habeas corpus); see also Kaeser
Compressors v. Compressor & Pump Repair Servs., 2011 WL 3881017 at *1-*2 (E.D. Wis.,
Sept. 2, 2011). Such motions are disfavored and should rarely be brought. Id. (citing Bank of
Waunakee v. Rochester Cheese Sales, 906 F.2d 1185, 1191 (7th Cir. 1990)).
A Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration should be used only (1) to correct manifest
errors of law or fact, or (2) to present newly discovered evidence. A “manifest error” is the
“wholesale disregard, misapplication, or failure to recognize controlling precedent.” Oto v.
Metro Life Ins. Co., 224 F.3d 601, 606 (7th Cir. 2000). However, where, as here, “the only
arguable basis for relief present in the motion . . . is ‘excusable neglect’” for the failure to file a
response, the court should apply the standards governing a motion under Rule 60(b). Harrington
v. City of Chicago, 433 F.3d 542, 546 (7th Cir. 2006). The relevant circumstances for courts to
consider regarding excusable neglect under Rule 60(b) include: (1) the reasons for the delay,
including whether it was within the reasonable control of the movant; (2) the danger of prejudice
to the non-moving party; (3) the length of the delay and its potential impact on judicial
proceedings; and (4) whether the movant acted in good faith. See Robb v. Norfolk & Western
Ry., 122 F.3d 354, 359 (7th Cir. 1997) (quoting Pioneer Inv. Servs. v. Brunswick Assocs. Ltd
P’ship, 507 U.S. 380, 395 (1993)).
3
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A. Putman Does Not Demonstrate Excusable Neglect For His Failure to Respond to
The SEC’s Motion for Summary Judgment
Putman does not demonstrate excusable neglect. He does not offer any explanation for
why he never filed a response to the SEC’s motion for summary judgment during the eightmonth period in which it was pending. Instead, he now asks for an extension of time to respond,
stating that he is “inexperienced in these kinds of legal proceedings” and he “had some confusion
about the nature of the SEC’s motion for Summary Judgment” but now “understands the
importance of informing the Court of disputed factual issues.” (Motion at 1) Putman does not
claim that he lacked an understanding of the basic requirement that he file a response or the
required timeframe for doing so.
Putman’s self-serving assertions hardly are enough to show good cause for not
responding to the SEC’s motion for summary judgment for eight months. Instead, they are
strikingly similar to the excuses offered by litigants in cases in which courts have found a lack of
excusable neglect for a party’s failure to respond to a motion for summary judgment. For
example, in Cato v. Thompson, 118 Fed. Appx. 93, 97 (7th Cir. 2004), the trial court granted the
defendants’ motion for summary judgment after the plaintiff failed to respond to the motion. Id.
at 94. The plaintiff moved to reconsider, claiming that her attorney failed to file a response to
the motion due to the failure to diary the deadline for responding, an overwhelming trial
schedule, and an unfamiliarity with the local rules establishing the briefing schedule. Id. at 95.
The trial court rejected the motion, and the Seventh Circuit affirmed, holding that the proffered
reasons for failing to respond to the summary judgment motion did not qualify as excusable
neglect. Id. at 97.
Similarly, in Vela v. Dawdy, 2011 WL 3880424 (S.D. Ill., Sept. 2, 2011), a pro se
plaintiff moved to reconsider the court’s entry of summary judgment against him, claiming that
4
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he could not respond to a motion for summary judgment when required because as a result of his
incarceration he could not access his legal mail or a law library. Id. at *1. The Court held that
the plaintiff’s reasons for failing to respond to the motion for summary judgment did not qualify
as excusable neglect. Id. at *2. Other courts likewise have rejected attempts by pro se litigants
to re-open summary judgment briefing after the litigants failed to respond to a summary
judgment motion. See, e.g., Payton v. Hartford, 2011 WL 5403190 (E.D. La., Nov. 8, 2011)
(denying motion to reconsider grant of summary judgment and holding that alleged health
setback did not constitute excusable neglect for pro se litigant’s failure to respond to motion for
summary judgment); Jones v. Neuman, 2007 WL 1459460 (D.N.J., May 15, 2007) (denying
motion to reconsider and holding that plaintiff did not demonstrate excusable neglect where he
filed a response to the motion for summary judgment late and with the wrong judge); accord
Hoeft v. Sears, 2010 WL 785989 at *2 (W.D. Wis., Mar. 4, 2010) (striking pro se litigant’s
response to motion for summary judgment which was filed after deadline for responding).
These cases reflect that Putman’s status as a pro se litigant does not excuse his failure to
respond to the SEC’s motion for summary judgment. Cases such as Vela, Payton, Jones, and
Hoeft, supra, all involved pro se litigants, and in all those cases, the courts found that the pro se
litigants’ failure to respond to the motion for summary judgment was inexcusable. The Seventh
Circuit has been clear that “[p]ro se litigants are entitled to a limited degree of procedural
protections as provided by statutes and case law, but they are not entitled to claim complete
dispensation of procedural rules.” Casio Computer Co., Ltd. v. Noren, 35 Fed. Appx. 247, 250
(7th Cir. 2002) (affirming entry of default judgment against pro se litigant) (citation omitted).
Indeed, in the context of a motion for summary judgment, the Seventh Circuit has
established procedural protections requiring that pro se litigants receive notice of the
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consequences of a failure to respond appropriately to the motion. See Timms v. Frank, 953 F.2d
281, 285 (7th Cir. 1982). Specifically, the notice must include a short and plain statement in
ordinary English that any factual assertion will be taken as true unless the pro se litigant submits
evidence contradicting the assertion. Id. 2 The SEC’s motion for summary judgment complied
with these requirements by providing a plain statement that “any factual assertions in the SEC’s
affidavits, declarations, or other admissible documentary evidence will be accepted by the Court
as being true unless James Putman submits his own affidavits, declarations, or other admissible
documentary evidence contradicting the factual assertion”, and by reciting the pertinent text of
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 which reflects this concept. Putman, as the founder and CEO of an investment
advisory and financial planning firm, is relatively sophisticated, and there is no reason to believe
that the notice required by the Seventh Circuit and provided to Putman was insufficient. Indeed,
there can be little doubt that Putman understood the nature of summary judgment procedure,
since he filed his own summary judgment motion prior to the SEC filing its motion.
The SEC would suffer prejudice if Putman were allowed to file a response to the SEC’s
motion for summary judgment now. This case has been pending since May 2009. Putman’s
motion, if granted, would essentially result in almost a year’s worth of delay in these
proceedings. The SEC is entitled to a reasonably prompt resolution of its claims. Similarly, the
Court would be adversely impacted if resolution of this case were delayed by nearly a year
because Putman failed to file a response to the SEC’s motion for summary judgment in the eightmonth period in which the motion was pending.

2

Even where Timms notice is not provided, a court may grant summary judgment against a pro se litigant if it
appears that the litigant was not prejudiced by the lack of notice -- that is, if he could not have established the
existence of a genuine issue of material fact, even if given notice. See Banks v. Andersen Consulting, 1997 WL
433711 at * 3 (N.D.Ill., July 17, 1997); Timms, 953 F.2d at 286; Sellers v. Henman, 41 F.3d 1100, 1101 (7th Cir.
1994).
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Putman has not demonstrated good faith. He would have demonstrated good faith if, for
example, he had asked the court for an extension of time during the eight-month period in which
the SEC’s motion for summary judgment was pending. Instead, Putman waited until the Court
issued its ruling. Now unsatisfied with the ruling, Putman asks the Court for additional time to
respond when the time to respond long has passed.
Under established precedent and the standards for evaluating excusable neglect, Putman
has failed to justify reopening these proceedings against him, and the Court should deny
Putman’s motion for reconsideration.
B. Putman’s Response Would Not Change the Outcome
Additionally, a belated responsive filing by Putman would merely prolong these
proceedings and would not change the outcome. Putman does not point to any documentary
evidence he would be able to produce to rebut any of the SEC’s claims. Indeed, Putman did not
take any depositions in this case, and it appears unlikely he would be able to obtain affidavits
other than his own. But any affidavit from Putman would be fatally undermined by Putman’s
own words and Putman’s own documents.
For example, consider Putman’s claim in his motion that he “didn’t state that the WM
Funds would be comparable to diversified bond funds” and that Putman would be able to dispute
this factual finding if given the chance. (Putman Mot. at 1) WM’s own notes of Putman’s
meetings with clients show exactly what the Court found: Putman told clients that the WM
Funds would serve as a substitute for traditional fixed-income investments such as diversified
bond funds. See Docket Entry 378, Ex. 4, 5/28/03 Meeting Notes Between WM and Client
(portions redacted) (Putman “discussed the WML Gryphon Fund LLC, Wealth Management’s
replacement for bonds”; Ex. 4, 01/28/04 Meeting Notes Between WM and Client (portions
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redacted) (Putman told clients that Gryphon and WatchStone “have the same performance goals:
Stable principal, outperform the Merrill Lynch U.S. Master Bond Index, and produce an 8%
distributable return and some additional capital gain.”); Ex. 4, 10/10/03 Meeting Notes Between
WM and Client (portions redacted) (Putman told clients that “Wealth Management has launched
the WML Gryphon Fund, an income generator, created to produce income in lieu of bonds or
bond funds.”) WM created these meeting notes through Putman’s dictation of the notes
immediately after Putman’s meeting with a client. Putman then gave the dictation to a WM
secretary, who would transcribe them. Putman would review the transcription of the meeting
notes for accuracy before WM sent the notes out to clients. See Docket Entry 378, Ex. 1, Putman
Dep. at p. 198 l. 18- p. 199 l. 5. Putman’s own statements in these meeting notes are party
admissions by him, see Fed. R. Evid. 801 (d)(2), and he would not be able to rebut them through
a belated self-serving affidavit or otherwise.
Moreover, most of the “Sample Disputed Issues of Fact” in Putman’s Motion are simply
conclusory statements about his state of mind which would carry little weight on summary
judgment in the face of the SEC’s documentary evidence to the contrary. Putman asserts that he
believed that the information provided by his former co-defendant was accurate and truthful,
believed that the information provided to WM clients was accurate and truthful, believed that
appropriate disclosures were made to WM clients, and “denies that he acted with scienter to
defraud clients.” (Putman Mot. at 1-2) But Putman does not state or suggest that he would be
able to offer the Court any admissible evidence to rebut the admissible evidence that the SEC
provided in support of its motion for summary judgment. Putman still does not seem to
understand that summary judgment is essentially “a trial in miniature, on affidavits, so that not
submitting counter affidavits is the equivalent of not presenting any evidence at all.” Lewis v.
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Faulkner, 689 F.2d 100, 102 (7th Cir. 1982). Putman does not and cannot promise that he has
any actual evidence to rebut the SEC’s evidence, as opposed to mere conclusory statements.
Therefore, he offers no prospect that the outcome of this case would be any different if he were
allowed to make an untimely filing in response to the SEC’s September 2011 motion for
summary judgment.
CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court
deny Defendant James Putman’s motion for reconsideration and award the SEC such other and
further relief as this Court deems just.

Dated: June 6, 2012

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Eric M. Phillips___________________
Eric M. Phillips (IL Bar # 6237871)
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
175 W. Jackson Blvd., Suite 900
Chicago, Illinois 60604
(312) 353-7390
Attorneys for the Plaintiff, the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission
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